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Figure 56. Grant and Hooker Counties, Nebraska. Independent Resurvey.
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Rs. 10 and 11 W., Willamette Meridian, in Oregon. Two
separate range lines were monumented by surveys executed
in 1874 and 1892. This is the first known hiatus actually
surveyed, though several had been reported over the years
with all being rejected. Gideon had some problems with this
survey, designated T. 18 S, R. 10% W. He finally completed
it in March 1899 and the survey was approved July 14. The
plat is shown in Fig. 57. Many hiatus surveys have been
made since then.

On June 3, 1895, the Supreme Court rendered the final
decision in the case of Horne vs. Smith, 159 U.5. 40. That case
involved omitted lands along the Indian River in sections 23
and 26, T. 29 S, R. 38 E., in Florida.

On January 17, 1888, Commissioner Stockslager rejected
the application by Charles A. and Robert T. Smith for the
survey of a large body of land lying between the original
meander line and the actual bank of the Indian River. The
Commissioner thought they might be “accretions” or “swamp
and overflowed” lands, and in either case would not be
patentable to the Smiths, and on those grounds rejected their
application. The Smiths actually occupied the land.

The “riparian” owner of the fractional lots in sections 23
and 26 was Charles W. Horne, who sued in an action of
ejectment to kick the Smiths out and the case ended up in the
Supreme Court. In the cited decision, the Court upheld the
Smiths’ claim that it was omitted land belonging to the gov-
ernment, The omitted area was 700 acres, while the fraction-
al lots owned by Horne contained about 170 acres. Thus, a
private suit proved government ownership.

On September 5, 1895, E. F. Best, Acting Commissioner,
directed Surveyor General of Florida, William H. Milton, to
have the lands surveyed. The survey was made by R. B.
Burchfiel in December 1895, approved May 18, 1896, and
accepted by the Commissioner on May 26, 1896. The original
plat and omitted lands survey plat are shown in Figs. 58 and
59. This case solidified the government’s stand on omitted
lands and many have been executed over the past 80 years.

The Act of February 20, 1896, 29 Stat. 11, opened certain
Forest Reserves in Colorado to mining claim entry. Subse-
quent acts of Congress have opened nearly all the forest lands
to valid mining claims.

The Indian Department Appropriations Act of June 10,
1896, 29 Stat. 321, appropriated $200,000 for continuation of
the rectangular surveys in the Indian Territory of Oklahoma.
The act also provided for prosecution and fine of any person
convicted of destroying or defacing survey monuments or
trees marking a survey. The provision for a $250 fine for
destroying survey corners and bearing trees were enacted
into statutory law in 1909.

The Civil Appropriations Act of June 11,1896,29 Stat. 413,
435, stipulated that the TUSGS was to establish at least two
bench marks in each township west of the One Hundred and
Third Meridian and that they should be established near the
township corners if practicable and monumented with iron
posts or stones.

On October 16, 1896, the first full Circular titled Restora-
tion of Lost or Obliterated Corners and Subdivision of Sec-

. tions was issued. It combined all previous circulars covering
the same subjects and has been reissued periodically ever
since in that format.

The Act of February 11, 1897, 29 Stat, 526, permitted the
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patenting of oil lands under the placer claim provisions of the
mining law.

Binger Hermann from Oregon was appointed Commission-
er of the GLO on March 25, 1897, On May 26, 1897, Hermann
issued a Circular letter o all Surveyors General, In the
future, plats would be made of all township exteriors, stan-
dard parallels, and guide meridians when surveyed. The old
practice was to show them along with the township subdivi-
sions when those were surveyed.

The Civil Appropriations Act of June 4, 1897, 30 Stat. 11,
34-36, is also known as the Forest Reserve Act of 1897, 1t is
long and complex; among other items, it provided for the
survey of the Forest Reserve boundaries, township and subdi-
visional lines by the USGS, and the protection of the reserves
by the Secretary of the Interior,

The surveyors emploved by the USGS were government
emplovees under the Civil Service system, established in
1883 (22 Stat. 403). The GLO had gained a bad reputation for
surveying due to the Benson Syndicate Scandals and the
timber land frauds. It was thought that government em-
ployees could and would do an honest job of surveying the
valuable timber lands in the Forest Reserves. The law re-
quired them to make the rectangular surveys in compliance
with the existing laws and regulations, i.e., the Manual of
Surveying Instructions. The plats and field notes were
approved by the Commissioner of the GLO. It might be said
that these rectangular surveys in the Forest Reserves were
the origin of the direct system of surveying. In 1898, in the
Black Hills Reserve, surveys were being made by Frank M,
Johnson, A. L. Coleman, M. P. McCoy, William H. Thorn, and
J. Scott Harrison, all employees of the USGS. Frank M.
Johnson became the first Supervisor of Surveys when the
direct system began in 1910, In 1900, Johnson was a Special
Examiner of Surveys in Colorado. The rectangular surveys of
the townships were generally well executed. However, the
survey of the Forest Reserve boundaries were usually
monumented with three-inch iron posts. In some places (Cali-
fornia}, the USGS surveyors did not execute the boundary
work correctly, ignored the original surveys, or followed
some other incorrect procedure. In those cases, the surveys
were never approved or accepted by the GLO. Monuments
may exist on the ground but have no legal force or effect
except as they indicate the position of the original approved
SUTVeys.

The survey of townships adjacent to the boundaries of the
Forest Reserves by the USGS continued until 1899, After
that, they surveyed only the boundaries of the reserves, con-
tinuing until 1905.

Under the protection provisions of the Forest Reserve Act,
Binger Hermann reorganized “Division P” of the GLO into a
Divigton of Foresiry; it became "Division “R” on March 1,
1901. Five vears later in 1903, the Division of Forestry erm-
ployed 326 Forest Rangers, 41 Forest Supervisors, and 6
Forest Superintendents; the most notable was Gifford Pin-
chot, Special Forest Agent. These men managed and pro-
tected the forest reserves and watersheds and supervised
timber sales. All were government employees, appointed in
accordance with the Act of July 7, 1898, 30 Stat. 673.

OnJune 29, 1897, a Circular letter to the Surveyors Gener-
al directed them that in the future, bearing trees at all quar-
ter-section corners would be marked with the section number



included, such as ¥ S 16 BT, not just ¥4 S BT as in the old
practice.

The Act of July 24, 1897, 30 Stat. 215, provided for the
appointment of a Surveyor General in the District of Alaska;
William L. Distin was appointed and established his office at
Sitka, November 5, 1897, Distin moved the office to Juneau
in the fall of 1906 where it remained until abolished.

The Act of April 29, 1898, 30 Stat. 367, is known as the
“Arkansas Compromise Act.” Arkansas relinquished her
claim to all of the remaining unclaimed swamp lands in that
State.

The Act of May 14, 1898, 30 Stat. 409, extended the home-
stead law to Alaska but restricted the claims to 80 rods along
navigable waters, with a shore space of 80 rods between
claims; granted right-of-way to railroads; defined navigable
waters and tidelands; and provided for 80-acre trade and
manufacturing sites.

The following item was reported by the Surveyor General
of North Dakota in his 1898 Annual Report:

“August 8, 1898, at 7.30 p.m., fire broke out in the
Northern Pacific Railway Company’s freight house,
and, owing to the character of the building and the wind
prevailing at the time, the fire was beyond control in a
very few minutes, and spread rapidly to the main busi-
ness portion of the city. This office was situated on the
third floor of the First National Bank building, and it
was impossible to save but a small portion of the rec-
ords.”

Williams then went en to list the few records saved. Once
again the Washington copies were called on to replace the
burned records at considerable expense.

The Civil Appropriations Act of March 3, 1899, 30 Stat.
1074, restricted the USGS surveys in the Forest Reserves to
the survey of the boundaries of those reserves. The survey of
all regular township and section line surveys within the
reserves was returned to the GLO. The act also provided for
metes and bounds Homestead Entry Surveys (HES) in the
Black Hills Reserve in South Dakota on lands classified as
agricultural, a departure from the rectangular system,
Actually, settlers had been taking up homesteads in the
Black Hills under the Placer Mining Law.

By this act, the rectangular system of surveys was ex-
tended to the District of Alaska; none were made until 1905.

The Act of June 6, 1900, 31 Stat. 327, extended the mining
laws of the United States to Alaska.

Ondanuary 1, 1902, the Manual of Surveying Instructions,
1902, was officially issued and was made part of all surveying
contracts by the Act of April 26, 1902, 32 Stat. 120.

The Act of June 17, 1902, 32 Stat. 388, provided for the
reclamation and irrigation of arid lands in the West. Under
this act and amendments which followed, the Bureau of Re-
clamation was established in the Department of the Interior;
eventually, it would execute some rectangular surveys and
resurveys on lands under their authority. The first em-
ployees of the Reclamation Service were men from the hydro-
graphic branch of the Geological Survey.

The Act of July 1, 1902, 32 Stat. 728 and January 10, 1903,
32 Stat. 767, authorized the resurvey of 25 townships in San
Diego County, California, and 84 townships in Wyoming
without requiring a petition by the settlers. Up to this time
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the Congress had provided funds for resurveys in most of the
appropriations acts. These resurveys were usually at the
request of settlers who couldn’t find the corners. Congress
was generally moving toward the necessary legislation
allowing resurveys. The resurveys provided for, when ex-
ecuted, were done almost as original surveys and caused
much contention.

On January 26, 1903, Binger Hermann was removed from
office and William A. Richards was appointed Commissioner
of the GLO. Hermann was involved in timber land frauds in
the West and it was alleged that he burned 43 letter books of
correspondence before he left office; he was later elected
Congressman from Oregon. On February 13, 1905, Her-
mann, Senator Mitchell from Oregon, and several other men
were indicated on charges of land frauds involving 150,000
acres of timber lands in the Blue Mountain Forest Reserve in
Oregon.

The Act of March 3, 1903, 32 Stat. 1028, enlarged home-
steads in Alaska to 320 acres to be surveyed in a rectangular
form if no rectangular system surveys existed near the
homestead. There were no rectangular surveys at that time
in Alaska.

The Act of February 1, 1905, 33 Stat. 628, transferred the
Forest Reserves to the Department of Agriculture and estab-
lished the bureau known as the Forest Service within that
department. Thus, the GLO was the origin of the USGS,
Bureau of Reclamation, and the Forest Service.

The Act of April 16, 1906, 34 Stat. 116, provided for Re-
clamation Townsites on lands administered by that Bureau,

On April 17, 1905, Alfred B. Lewis, Deputy Surveyor,
under Contract No. 8 with the Surveyor General of Alaska,
William L. Distin, set a stone monument on the north side of
Stuck Mountain for the initial point of the Copper River
Meridian. The point was near the Military Trail and tele-
graph lines which later became the Richardson Highway.
Lewis then surveyed some 72 miles of the Copper River
Meridian, 18 miles of the baseline, and the exterior bound-
aries of several townships. These surveys were approved by
Distin on January 28, 1908, and the rectangular surveys
were underway in Alaska. The first township subdivided in
Alaska was T. 3 N, R. 1 W, Copper River Meridian, around
the community of Copper Center in the Copper River Valley.
That survey was made by Thomas A. Haigh, Deputy Sur-
veyor, in 1910. The returns were approved by Distin on April
11, 1912. These surveys were hard to contract for at the low
prices allowed by law.

At5:16 a.m., April 18, 1906, the great San Francisco earth-
quake hit that city, with a subsequent fire that burned for
days. The Surveyor General’s office and all his records, plats,
maps, etc. were destroyed. The rectangular plats and field
notes were once again replaced over several years from the
Washington copies. Many of the mineral survey records
were, however, destroyed forever. There were thousands of
claims and most of their records were recovered through the
claimants and land offices but, California still suffers many
difficulties with mining claims because of the loss. The San
Francisco fire was the last of the series, beginning with
Symmes in Ohio. The GLO (and BLM) have never provided
safe, fireproof storage for these vital records where the re-
liability of an original document versus a copy is so impor-
tant. Ironically, many of the “Washington copies” are now



housed in a flasmmable wooden structure in Denver, Colora-
do.

The Actof April 28, 1904, 33 Stat. 545, declared the corners
of mineral gurveys the best evidence of the true position of a
mining claim. In other words, the mineral survey corners
assumed the same legal status as the rectangular survey
cofners, they were unchangeable, and the Surveyor General
had to honor them.

The Act of May 17, 1806, 34 Stat. 267, enabled Oklahoma,
Arizona and New Mexico to become States. Oklahoma
formed a government and was admitted to the Union on
November 16, 1907.

The Act of June 11, 1906, 34 Stat. 233, provided for Home-
stead Entry Surveys on agricultyral lands within most of the
Forest Reserves. The previous act had applied only to the
Black Hills. Under this act the lands classified by the Forest
Service as best suited for agriculture were surveyed by metes
and bounds. These surveys were made by Forest Service
surveyors under instructions from the Surveyors General
and were approved by and filed in the GLO in about the same
manner as any other survey. Homesteads in the Black Hills
Reserve were denied riparian rights under an unusual provi-
sion, Sec. 3 of the act. This act was repealed October 23, 1962,
76 Stat. 1157.

On January 28, 1907, Richard A. Ballinger was appointed
Commissioner of the GLO.

The Act of March 2, 1907, 34 Stat. 1232, directed the Sur-
veyor General of Alasks to furnish survey numbers to the
land offices at Nome and Fairbanks. The numbers were those
used in the official surveys known as the “U.S. Surveys” of
metes and bounds claims in that State.

On January 14, 1908, Fred Dennett was appointed Com-
missioner of the GLO and took charge in March. Ballinger
became Secretary of the Interior.
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The Civil Appropriations Act of May 27, 1908, 35 Stat, 317,
provided $25,000 for the purchase of iron posts to be used to
monument the corners of the public land surveys. Iron posts
have been the standard monument ever since. The act also
abolished the offices of Surveyor General in Minnesota,
North Dakota, and Florida. Rates of up to $25 per mile were
allowed in the land surveys at that time.

The Act of March 3, 1909, 35 Stat. 845, is the "Resurvey
Law.” It provides by statute for the necessary resurveysof the
public lands and is codified in 43 U.8.C. 772. Resurveys had
been made for many years but this act authorized them
whenever and wherever they were necessary to mark the
boundaries of the remaining public lands.

The Civil Appropriations Act of March 4, 1909, 35 Stat,
945, abolished the Office of Surveyor General in Louisiana.

The Aect of June 20, 1910, 36 Stat. 557, again enabled
Arizona and New Mexico to become States. New Mexico was
admitted January 6, 1912, and Arizona on February 14,
1912. Both States received sections 2, 16, 32, and 36 in each
township for school lands. The 48 contiguous States were
completed.

The Civil Appropriations Actof June 25,1910, 36 Stat. 703,
provided that, “The surveys and resurveys to be made by such
competent surveyors as the Secretary of the Interior may
select, at such compensation not exceeding two hundred dol-
lars per month as he may prescribe. . .” It was the end of the
contract system of surveys begun by Rufus Putnam in 1797.
The system had surveyed millions of acres of public lands by
good, bad and indifferent surveyors. Most of the easy sur-
veying had been done, so not even the Deputy Surveyors
themselves were sorry to see the contract method go.



